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For my father,
a Giant in his own right...
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INTRODUCTION


I’m very happy, traveling all over the world. I’m very happy to see all those people, all different people, and all different country. And lots of promoter, wrestling promoter, and lots of fans around to see me, and that’s why I’m proud. I just want to make everybody happy.
—ANDRÉ THE GIANT

He was “the Eighth Wonder of the World,” the biggest attraction in the history of professional wrestling. At seven-foot-four, 450 pounds, André the Giant was a living, breathing legend, the kind of make-believe figure usually encountered only in fairy tales. [image: image] For two decades, André Rene Rousimoff towered over the professional wrestling stage like a colossus, winning over fans of all ages with his humble manner, boundless charm, and fearsome charisma in the ring. An exceptional performer whose very presence was enough to get the crowd on its feet, the French-born Gargantua became one of the most recognizable athletes in all the world, second only to Muhammad Ali. In an age when wrestling stars were ghettoized from the mainstream, André crossed over to become a transcendent cultural phenomenon, with acting roles that are now considered classics by a generation.

While he was a very public figure, André was in many ways a very private man. The Giant was largely trapped in a world he never made, separated from even those closest to him by a language barrier, by his physical stature, and by his worldwide celebrity.

Outside of the spotlight, this astounding athlete struggled for years with his myriad difficulties caused by his size and his stardom. Worse, André fought a constant war with crippling pain caused both by his profession and by the disease that made him who he was. Taken together, these things served to mask rather than accentuate André’s true persona.

For André, life and wrestling were one and the same. The stories he told in the ring, the excitement he created in his cheering fans, these were what counted.

What follows is a life history of his World Wrestling Federation career, collecting landmark matches and unforgettable bouts, a series of snapshots from a life overflowing with memorable moments. Offering commentary and perspective is an array of witnesses, including some of the people closest to André. Most often, the tale is told by the tape—move-by-move renderings of some of André’s most significant battles.

The story they tell is of a truly unique man, a larger-than-life legend whose gift for entertaining audiences was his greatest strength.


ANDRÉ THE GIANT
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André’s father, Boris Rousimoff, migrated to France from Bulgaria in 1934. A fellow farmworker—who had himself emigrated from Poland—introduced Boris to his sister, Marianne, and in 1938, the two married. A small, sturdy woman with the figure of a fire hydrant and wild frizzy hair, she quickly presented Boris with children, beginning with Antoine and Hélène. [image: image] The family struggled as World War II wreaked havoc on the European continent, but somehow, they managed to survive. André Rene was born on May 19, 1946, followed shortly thereafter by Mauricette and Jacques.

A hale and hearty man over six feet, Boris built his family a home in Molien, a bucolic farming village approximately forty miles outside Paris. It was just a small farm, but it was fertile and productive enough to feed the Rousimoffs.

Known as Dédé from his little sister Mauricette’s mispronunciation of his name, André was a handsome boy, baby-faced and charming. But as he got older, he kept growing and growing, his jaw and forehead becoming distorted in appearance. Though it was clear that there was something unusual about the boy, his condition went undiagnosed by the country doctors.

André was sent to school in nearby Ussy-sur-Marne. Having grown up on the farm, with only his family for companionship, André loved going to school, especially the social aspect of being around people. Many years later, during production of The Princess Bride, André would tell stories of how the Nobel Prize–winning playwright Samuel Beckett used to pick him up when he would hitchhike to school.

Circumstances forced him to abandon his education at the age of eleven, at which time he joined his father and brother at work on the farm. As he entered his teens, André was well over six feet tall, with the physical appearance of a fully grown man. He was strong and athletic and, like all French boys, loved playing soccer. At the age of eighteen, André made the acquaintance of a local wrestling promoter who saw beaucoup francs in the oversize young man. He introduced André to the art of le catch, and the young athlete soon began wrestling around Paris and its environs. He adopted the ring name of “Geant Ferre”—after a mythical French giant à la Paul Bunyan—which soon became “Jean Ferre.”

In 1966, André was befriended by Frank Valois, a Montreal-born wrestler and promoter. Valois became André’s most trusted adviser and business manager, finding his charge work wrestling throughout Europe, including Germany and England. It was around the same time that André first met British wrestler and future World Wrestling Federation commentator Lord Alfred Hayes. Years later, Hayes would recall his first encounter with André and the friendship that blossomed between the two men in a witty and touching essay published in the official company publication.
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BOUND FOR GLORY . . .

by Lord Alfred Hayes

Although England and France have produced many, many fine wrestlers, one country holds the honor for having given birth to the most incredible wrestler the world has ever seen. This country, of course, is France, and the tremendous understatement I have just made when I refer to an incredible wrestler is specifically bound to André the Giant. When one talks about André the Giant, one also talks of not just the greatest professional wrestler of all time, but also the greatest professional athlete that has ever lived. I wonder if we will ever see the likes of such a person in professional athletics again.

I had made my wrestling headquarters in the comfy district of Place Blanche, which lies within the shadow of the hill of Montmartre. One day before departing for a wrestling engagement at a town near LeMans racecourse, the French wrestling promoter, Maurice Duran, phoned me and asked if I would pick up a young wrestler who would be waiting for me at the Porte-de-Versaille, one of the Gates of Paris. My response was of course, I would be delighted to. In those days as indeed now, I enjoyed impressing upon young rookies how to mind their manners and become decent people without swollen heads. Here was my chance to really give this young French wrestler an earful of my “puritanical moralizing.”

With this pleasant thought in mind, I proceeded to the rendezvous where I would pick up this young lad. Imagine my surprise upon reaching my destination and discovering a raw-boned seventeen-year-old French youth who stood almost seven feet tall and grinned at me in the most disarming manner. He spoke no English, which may have been a blessing had I not spoken French. Upon discovering that I could speak French, he immediately began to lecture me! He would gesticulate with each sentence, almost causing a major disaster with practically every turn of the wheel. His booming laughter came from deep down in his stomach and filled my small European car with such decibels of noise, I really thought my eardrums would burst! It suddenly dawned on me this “boy” was not ordinary, either mentally or physically.

Eyeing him slyly, I inquired if he knew who his opponent would be that evening. “I know his name,” he replied. “His name is Jacques Ducrez.”

“But do you know anything about this man?” I persisted.

“No,” he said, “I do not,” and quite honestly, he did not seem to care.

“Jacques Ducrez,” I said, “is probably the cruelest wrestler in the whole of France. He is a black-hearted man who knows no mercy and will coldly strike you down. He will probably take a mere kid like you and finish your wrestling career with one hold.”

Naturally I expected such a young person to at least show some apprehension. However, André looked at me, laughed, and then with a wink of one of his bright eyes said, “You are amusing me, please continue.”

From that moment on I had the feeling I was chauffeuring a young athlete who was definitely destined for fame, and whose mother country, France, was certainly not big enough to contain his irresistible spirit to say nothing of his huge dimensions.

Many people talk about the miracle of André the Giant, some few people, myself fortunate to be amongst them, have had the luck to be close to his development, and yet this miracle that is André definitely seems to have an almost fairy(tale)-like quality to me. I say almost because it is a positive fact that André the Giant does exist. Watching him the other evening destroy two men with a single blow, one knows his existence is indelibly printed into the annals of professional wrestling.

Born in Grenoble, his father a French mountaineer and his mother coming from a noble Bulgarian family, his childhood environment equipped him adequately for the strenuous life of the professional wrestler. . . . His reputation as a fair and just wrestler is without blemish. His massive size and strength have already made him legendary and here indeed is the perfect example of a “hero” who has become a legend in his own lifetime.

When André travels to countries where one might think he would go in trepidation, it is the other way around. When André is touring Japan, top wrestlers suddenly find time for vacationing or perhaps visiting Mama.

One might ask, is it possible that here in André the Giant is an invincible wrestler. An improbable task for anybody to overcome his advantage in weight, strength, size and skill. I would have to answer this is probably a correct assumption. However, Lady Luck has not always been the companion of our towering superman. It has always been difficult for André to obtain world championships, and one can understand the reason why.

Many shrewd critics of wrestling still expect this giant warrior to eventually realize that one horizon which until this moment has escaped him. For myself, I can now sit back in relief, comparative safety, and observe with much pleasure André’s forays into the ranks of professional wrestling. Good luck to you André, may you achieve that happiness and pride that only a world championship can give its holder. You are truly a man admired by men. You are an example for every sportsperson to follow. I am proud to be considered your friend.

In 1969, André ventured off the European continent to wrestle in New Zealand under the name Monster Eiffel Tower. The following year saw his Japanese debut, wrestling for Isao Yoshihara’s International Wrestling Enterprises (the country’s number two promotion behind Japan Pro Wrestling Association). Billed as Monster Rousimoff, André wrestled as both a singles competitor as well as in a tag team with European wrestler Michael Nador. The partnership was instantly successful: on January 18, 1970, Monster Rousimoff & Michael Nador defeated Thunder Sugiyama & Great Kusatsu in Fukoka, Japan, to win IWE World Tag Team Championships.

While he was wrestling in Japan, a doctor informed André that his unusual size was the result of acromegaly, a rare hormonal disorder caused by a benign tumor of the pituitary gland. The tumor spurs overproduction of growth hormones, leading to an altered facial appearance and enlargement of the hands and feet. If the tumor develops before bone growth is completed in adolescence, the result will be gigantism.

Unfortunately for André, the discovery of his acromegaly came too late to prevent many of its symptoms. Worse yet, André was advised that acromegaly sufferers were generally lucky to reach forty. He told no one about the diagnosis, and those friends closest to him believe that it was the knowledge of his shortened lifespan that drove André to indulge freely in his many appetites.

André was not the first wrestler to suffer from acromegaly. Maurice Tillet—the French Angel—was a star in the early days of professional wrestling. He developed acromegaly in his twenties, and as a result, his whole body was disfigured. Seeking a new identity to fit his chronic disfigurement, Tillet headed to America, where he was dubbed the “freak ogre of the ring.”

So too did André head to North America—in his case, to French-speaking Quebec and the Montreal-based promotion Grand Prix Wrestling. Known as “the Eighth Wonder of the World,” he quickly made a name for himself based on his size, his cheerful personality, and his surprising agility in the ring (especially his ability to do dropkicks).

The seven-foot-tall André, billed as Jean Ferre, became an in-demand attraction throughout the territory. He was usually booked in three-on-two matches alongside Grand Prix’s Eduardo Carpentier, or in Handicap matches against two unlucky opponents. As a singles wrestler, he went toe-to-toe with some of the era’s biggest heels, including Killer Kowalski and Butcher Vachon.

André also continued to wrestle in Japan. Competing as Giant Rousimoff, André won IWE’s Third World Series tournament, defeating such legends of the sport as Karl Gotch and Billy Robinson.

His remarkable appearance and unique charisma quickly made André a top star. He was named 1971’s Rookie of the Year by Wrestling Yearbook 1972, a publication affiliated with the popular Inside Wrestling and The Wrestler.

In 1972, Le Geant Jean Ferre entered his first high-profile program, feuding with one of wrestling’s top big men, the six-foot-nine Mormon Giant, Don Leo Jonathan. The two behemoths battled frequently, culminating on May 31, 1972, in “The Match of the Century” at Montreal Forum. The “Battle of the Giants”—André’s first main event—set Canada’s indoor wrestling attendance and gate record with more than 20,000 fans in the Forum. In the finish, André was DQed after he lost his temper and wrapped his enormous hands around Jonathan’s throat. The rest of the locker room ran into the ring to stop him, but André threw them all aside. The match defined André’s gimmick for years to come—he’s a sweet guy, but if you get him mad, nothing can stop him.

DON MURACO: “Don Leo Jonathan was about six foot six inches, 320. He was a giant of a man in his own right. Could do nip-ups, tight-rope walk on the top rope. He was a 220-pound worker in a 325-pound body. I’m sure he had a lot to do with André’s progression as far as working.”

Also in 1972 André ventured more and more into the United States, wrestling as a special attraction on a number of American Wrestling Association cards. But after three years in Montreal, the novelty had begun to wear off. André had taken on all of the territory’s biggest wrestlers and beaten them all. Moreover, the thrill of seeing a wrestler of such dramatic size had been burned out by overexposure.

Frank Valois still believed that André had a brilliant career ahead of him. To try and revive the young wrestler’s profile, he reached out to a man whose booking expertise was considered the best in the business—Vincent J. McMahon of World Wide Wrestling Federation.


[image: image]

Choking the life out
of Killer Kowalski.
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The World Wide Wrestling Federation had its roots in the Capital Wrestling Corporation, the New York–based promotion founded by Toots Mondt and McMahon’s father, Roderick “Jess” McMahon. Vincent J. McMahon joined Mondt as promoter in 1953, and thanks to its northeastern base and McMahon’s shrewd booking skills, the company became a dominant force in the National Wrestling Association—the umbrella organization that ruled over the many independent wrestling promotions operating in various territories across the country.

Ten years later, McMahon and Mondt formed World Wide Wrestling Federation after a dispute with the NWA. The new promotion—which spanned the territory between Maine and Washington, D.C.—grew into a powerhouse over the next decade, with such stars as Bruno Sammartino, Pedro Morales, Superstar Billy Graham, and Gorilla Monsoon.

McMahon was introduced to the man-mountain who would be his greatest success by Frank Valois, who was concerned that André had already run out of credible opponents in the Montreal territory. In 1973 the New York promoter took charge of Jean Ferre’s career, beginning by giving him the name by which he would be known around the world: André the Giant.

McMahon also modified André’s gimmick, suggesting he cloak his natural athleticism and instead allow his sheer bulk and remarkable size to do the work for him. André need simply loom large as an unstoppable, immovable colossus, allowing his opponents to do the majority of the in-ring work before finally being crushed by the monster.

VINCE K. MCMAHON: “André was doing dropkicks when he was up there in Montreal. Even though he could, why let him do dropkicks? He was very agile, very quick. I wouldn’t say he had a lot of speed, but God he was quick.”

On March 26, 1973, André the Giant made his World Wide Wrestling Federation debut, defeating Buddy Wolfe at Madison Square Garden.

The Giant was an out-of-the-box phenomenon, and every wrestling promotion in North America began clamoring for an appearance. McMahon sent André on the road to do one-night stands in every territory associated with WWWF, including the NWA and AWA. For the next ten years, André worked nearly nonstop, touring the world countless times.

By keeping André on the move, never spending too long in any territory, McMahon ensured that the extraordinary novelty of the Giant would not be worn away by prolonged exposure.

VINCE MCMAHON: “My dad booked André all over the world. It was almost a separate part of his book—how many weeks he was going to be here, how many weeks he was going to be there. André knew he was being booked for the right reasons, but he also knew my dad had some political reasons too. He didn’t have a problem with that, and if he did, then he would say something to my dad. When he did, he wouldn’t say, ‘This guy is a thief’ or anything. ‘I didn’t have a good time there last time.’ And my dad knew exactly what he meant.”

JERRY LAWLER: “You had to book André the Giant through World Wide Wrestling Federation. You could call Vince Sr. and ask for André for three days or a week or whatever. To get him, you’d have to guarantee André a certain amount and you had to pay the company an extra booking fee.”

JACK BRISCO: “I was World’s Champion and Vince had just started André touring the country, so in just about every territory in the whole country, when they would have big shows, he and I would headline. I never wrestled him—he would be with somebody else, I’d be wrestling their local star. But he and I, we had top billing on the big shows all over the country for around three years.”

HOWARD FINKEL: “Next to the person who was the NWA champion, I would suggest André was the most sought-after person that was out there. No, he was the most sought after, forget about the NWA champion. Everybody wanted André.”

André’s run through the various territories saw him shattering box office records everywhere he went. Billed as seven-foot-four, 420 pounds, the Giant was promoted with a gimmicky photo showing him carrying two women wrestlers on each outstretched arm. Announcers would sit while interviewing André, or have him stand on a box, to further exaggerate his enormous height.

As a rule, André was kept away from the top heels so as not to damage their draw in the territory. Rather, he was usually booked in Battle Royals or in Handicap matches that pitted him against Valois—who’d call the match in the ring—and a local wrestler who would take the majority of the bumps.

HOWARD FINKEL: “You had to find the perfect use for André. If you had André for a week, you’d better book him right. You’d better know how to use him, because if you don’t know how to book him in your territory, then there’s no need to farm him out there again. It’s just going to be a waste of your time as well as our time.”

JACK BRISCO: “We were in Houston, Texas, when I was World’s Champion, they were having a two-ring Battle Royal, so they had like thirty guys there. In the old days, we had to get there an hour before the matches started. The matches started at eight, and we had to be there at seven. I walked in, André had a cooler full of beer and a couple of bottles of wine. He drank that whole cooler full of beer and all three of those bottles of wine before the matches, and it didn’t faze him a bit.

“Then the thirty-man Battle Royal started. We all got in the ring; I could see him eyeballing me, and I knew he was gonna do something crazy to me. As soon as the bell rang, he ran across the ring and grabbed me. He picked me up over his head and just ran across the ring and threw me from the middle of the one ring and into the middle of the next ring.

“I landed and I bounced about three times. I laid there for a minute and thought, ‘Do my legs move? Yeah. Do my arms move? Yeah. Well, I guess I could try to stand up.’ All the boys just stopped and looked to see if I was gonna get up. I finally got up and everybody started wrestling again. It was kinda scary, though. Talk about a helpless feeling.”

Part of André’s job as a star was to go from territory to territory putting local people over in order to keep the money rolling in long after he had moved on. The wrestler George Gray—better known as One Man Gang— recalls how the Giant helped elevate him while he was coming up in the Mid-South ranks.

ONE MAN GANG: “I had the other idea, that he was coming in as a babyface enforcer to straighten out the big heel. But it was totally opposite. He’d come in and sell for the whole match. And of course you’re gonna put André the Giant over in the end, but other than that he gave the heel the whole match.

“What amazed me about it was that he would actually make the time to take me to the side and try to wise me up to it. After that, I’d go out there, we’d do the big André spots, like where you’d try to reach around him and he’d do that ass thing where he bumped you off, things like that. But when it was time for me to take over, he’d give me a little ‘Okay, boss, it’s time’ and I’d move out of the corner and he’d hit the turnbuckle or something like that. I’d take over on him, it’d be my match the whole way to the finish. He’d always do his little spot where I’d give him some shots and he’d tie himself up in the ropes.

“The main thing, he wanted you to just stay on him tight. He didn’t want you to give him any breathing room. Then when it was time for his comeback, he got his little comeback in. Usually he’d give you a big boot and maybe the big splash or something like that. If it was a pinfall, then we’d get on outta there. But more often than not we went to a countout or a disqualification.”

JERRY LAWLER: “André knew Jerry Jarrett and I owned the Memphis territory, so when he came in, he was basically working for us, although he wound up working with me in the matches. He was always very respectful and he would call me ‘boss,’ a term he used for people he liked. He’d greet me, ‘Hey, boss.’ He was real easygoing. He’d let you do anything you wanted in a match. Other than beat him. If he liked you, he would sell like crazy and he could make you look like a million dollars. You had to work to get him off his feet, but once you did, man, it looked good. You could choke him, pull his hair, punch, kick, everything. He would stay down and sell until it was time for the big comeback.

“But if he didn’t like you, he’d make you look like crap, and there wasn’t anything anyone could do about it. It was all about strength, and he had that in spades.”

André parted ways with Frank Valois in 1974, and McMahon Sr. named one of his closest advisers to serve as André’s manager, accompanying the Giant on the road and supervising his booking from territory to territory. Arnold Skaaland had returned home from World War II a hero and began competing as a professional wrestler. Known as “the Golden Boy,” he was quick and tough enough to earn multiple shots at the NWA World Heavyweight Championship, though he never truly became a top-of-the-card star.

TIM WHITE: “Arnie was a legend. He was an ex-marine, he was in Carson’s Raiders, he took a grenade in China. He was a tough bastard. If there was a guy acting up over in another territory, they’d send Skaaland in, he’d stretch the shit out of the guy and that’d be it. There’d be no more screwing around.”

As a shareholder in Capital Wrestling, Skaaland was one of Vince McMahon Sr.’s most trusted associates. He consulted on all aspects of the business, from booking to decisions to overseeing the nightly box office take.

In addition to running WWWF shows in his hometown of Westchester, New York, Skaaland was a major figure at ringside, managing two of the World Wrestling Federation’s greatest champions, Bruno Sammartino and Bob Backlund.

It was in his capacity as Backlund’s manager that Skaaland entered the

annals of wrestling history’s most memorable moments. In December 1983, Backlund accepted a challenge from the Iron Sheik despite having recently suffered a neck injury. When the Iron Sheik caught Backlund in his Camel Clutch, Skaaland threw in the towel—literally—to protect his wrestler’s neck from further harm, costing his charge the championship.

[image: image]

André & Arnold Skaaland go before the TV cameras, 1982.

Skaaland and André made a perfect pair. The two bonded over their mutual interests—wrestling, drinking, and playing cards. Skaaland became André’s dearest companion, the two spending their time on the road together by closing bars nightly and engaging in a seemingly endless game of cribbage.

TIM WHITE: “Arnie and André traveled together everywhere, representing the McMahons. When André went to Japan, Arnie would go with him to Japan. If André went to Mexico, they’d go together. André probably wouldn’t have gone unless Arnie was with him.”

VINCE McMAHON: “André and Arnie loved the business. They had a good time doing what they did, not just in the ring but in life. They had a good time traveling up and down the highways, having a drink, closing down bars, and just laughing all the time.”

TIM WHITE: “Arnie used to say, ‘People ask, doesn’t the job wear you out? Job? We don’t have a job. We’re on vacation, brother.’”

André and Skaaland traveled constantly, often flying halfway around the world to get from one show to the next. The busy schedule did have its upside—the 1974 Guinness Book of World Records listed André as “the Highest Paid Wrestler in the World,” with official earnings of $400,000.

His drawing power was such that the Washington Redskins offered André a tryout, which he declined, knowing he had greater earning potential as a wrestler. He is said to have asked for the same $400,000 he was pocketing as a wrestler—more than the NFL paid at the time.

VINCE McMAHON: “It was really just publicity, and everybody went along with it. There were some guys who had no idea that we were just having fun, that thought, ‘Oh my God, can you imagine what this guy would do? André would be like half of the line.’

“André had no intention of trying out for football. He was making too much money in wrestling. I don’t know what they could’ve paid him, especially as a lineman. The linemen were really low on the totem pole. But that notwithstanding, it was really just a publicity stunt anyhow.”

With his frizzed-out mane and enormous presence, André was instantly recognizable and immediately iconic. He began receiving mainstream attention, rare for a wrestler in the 1970s. He appeared on The Tonight Show (with guest host Joey Bishop) and The Merv Griffin Show, and was featured in such magazines as People and Sports Illustrated.

It was inevitable that Hollywood would come a-calling. In early 1976 André made his acting debut on the hugely popular sci-fi series The Six Million Dollar Man. When the show decided to capitalize on the craze surrounding Sasquatch sightings, the creative team knew there was really only one man who could realistically portray the eight-foot-tall forest creature.

“Obviously we needed a big guy to do it,” recalls writer/director Kenneth Johnson. “We looked around at who could’ve filled those shoes, and there weren’t too many other seven-and-a-half-foot-tall guys around.”

Johnson—who later created such classic shows as The Bionic Woman, V, and The Incredible Hulk—remembers André as being both reticent and respectful while filming the episodes.

“He was a very shy, sweet guy. It was probably one of the first film things that he had ever done, so he was completely bewildered about the whole process. But he was also very, very friendly and anxious to please. When I met him at the trailer on the set and walked him out, there was a bit of a look of a frightened puppy in his eyes, which is amusing when you think of the mass that the guy represents. I mean, not only was he a foreigner, not only did he not speak the language, but he was seven-and-a-half feet tall and built like two or three file cabinets.

“I took pains to introduce him to all the cast and the crew people. You get stared at a lot when you’re that kind of guy, and I had a conversation with the cast and crew ahead of time to encourage them to be friendly and outgoing and make him as comfortable as he possibly could be, since it was his virgin effort in the film business.”

Hidden under prosthetic makeup and a fur-covered bodysuit, André battled seven-figure cyborg Steve Austin in a memorable fight scene that took advantage of the Giant’s grappling skills. While he might have yet lacked confidence as an actor, André was more than comfortable engaging in staged fisticuffs with actor Lee Majors.

KENNETH JOHNSON: “We worked through all of the choreography of the fights because Lee was our big star and we wanted to make sure that he wasn’t going to get hurt by this four-hundred-pound behemoth. Lee is sort of a terse guy anyway, doesn’t say a whole lot. They nodded and smiled a lot. Lee also recognized that it was André’s first gig and was anxious to try to make him look as good as he could.”

Years later, Entertainment Weekly named the episode the number 100 Television Moment of the 1970s in their “Fab 400: The Best of Pop Culture”: “Depending on who you ask, it’s either one of the scariest or campiest of TV moments: Steve Austin (Lee Majors)—the bionic hero of ABC’s The Six Million Dollar Man—duking it out with a hairy beast known as the Sasquatch (7’4” grappler André the Giant). As millions of kids watched in horror, Sasquatch treated their favorite cyborg like a rag doll. ‘That’s the episode everybody always brings up,’ laughs Majors, who ultimately won the fight. ‘Maybe because the ugly fella was so big, you couldn’t forget him.’”

KENNETH JOHNSON: “Later on, when we did ‘The Return of Bigfoot,’ we of course went to André first, but he was making more money on the wrestling circuit than all of us put together, so he couldn’t carve out the time we needed for him.”

In June 1976, André was a central player in another pop cultural milestone moment, the infamous “Boxer vs. Wrestler” debacle between Muhammad Ali and wrestling legend—and founder of New Japan Pro Wrestling—Antonio Inoki for “the World Martial Arts Championship.” While that match was taking place in Japan, half a world away, in New York’s Shea Stadium, André had his own mixed match—the Giant represented wrestling in a raucous brawl with boxer Chuck Wepner.

The main event had its genesis in some trademark Ali egotism. The champ was at the peak of his international fame after the legendary “Thrilla in Manila,” his third and most brutal bout with Joe Frazier. Having absorbed an incredible amount of damage in that classic fight—“as close to death as you can get in the ring,” according to Ali’s physician, Ferdie “the Fight Doctor” Pacheco—Ali spent the first part of 1976 taking on low-ranked unknowns. Attending a party in April 1975, the champ was introduced to Japan Amateur Wrestling Association president Ichiro Yada. “Isn’t there any Oriental fighter to challenge me?” Ali asked. “I’ll give him a million dollars if he wins.”

Ali’s joking remarks made it into the Japanese press, spurring Inoki to pursue a match between the two icons. Ali eventually accepted, with his handlers and promoter Bob Arum all thinking the match would be a piece of cake. After all, professional wrestling is fake, right?

Inoki had other ideas. His New Japan Pro Wrestling was founded upon an innovative blend of pure wrestling technique—or puroresu—and mixed martial arts, or “strong style professional wrestling.” To him, the Ali match was a chance to prove once and for all that professional wrestling was among the greatest of all martial arts.
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Face-to-face with Chuck Wepner.

What’s more, Inoki had long desired fame in the United States, one of the rare goals that had eluded him over the course of an extraordinary career that included a record-setting four NWA International Tag Team titles with the great Giant Baba, the NWA Texas Heavyweight Championship, the NWA United National Championship, the NWA North American Tag Team Championship (with Seiji Sakaguchi), and a controversial victory over World Wrestling Federation Champion Bob Backlund.

Ali, with “Classy” Freddie Blassie acting as his manager (as arranged by Vince McMahon Sr.), arrived in Japan on June 16 amid worldwide attention. At their first meeting, he unleashed some of his inimitable verbal warfare. Inoki, in a move that foreshadowed the bout’s result, presented the champ with a crutch.

In Blassie’s memoir, Hisashi Shinma explained how Ali was enticed into the match. “We did it by offering him $6 million—more money than any boxer had ever received.”

Ali and Blassie sold the hell out of the match, working talk shows across America. The champ joined his longtime friendly nemesis Howard Cosell on ABC’s Wide World of Sports, where he squashed a couple of AWA jobbers, followed by a more serious match with Buddy Wolfe. The match was stopped due to Wolfe’s bleeding, prompting his manager Bobby Heenan to come rushing into the ring to complain. The champ nailed the Brain with a massive punch, sending Heenan down to the canvas.

A week before the match, Ali appeared at a WWWF event in Philadelphia. He stood at ringside during Gorilla Monsoon’s match with Baron Mikel Scicluna. After Monsoon threw the Baron over the ropes, Ali pulled off his shoes and climbed into the ring. As he danced about, floating like the proverbial butterfly, Gorilla picked him up, put him on his shoulders, and executed a humiliating airplane spin on the Greatest.

Meanwhile, Inoki did his part to create buzz for the upcoming event. He defeated two-time Olympic gold medalist in judo Willem Ruska in a worked match, landing three back suplexes to demonstrate how wrestling could take out an opponent from another martial art.

On June 25, 1976, Inoki and Ali finally met in the ring of Tokyo’s Budokan Hall. Though the rules had been announced months prior to the match, new striking-only rules were stipulated just two days before the event. Apparently Ali and his people had been doing some scouting, and upon seeing Inoki in action, needed cover to protect the champ from being humiliated on the mat. There would be no suplexes, no headbutts or knees or open-handed slaps. Most significantly, there were to be no kicks above the waist. Perhaps the most disastrous of the new rules was one that restricted Inoki from throwing kicks unless one knee was on the canvas. The new rules served to constrain both athletes, thus setting up the disappointing match that followed.

The bell rang and Inoki hit the mat, spending 2:46 of the first round on the canvas, throwing kicks as Ali deftly danced around the ring. Though few kicks connected, by Round 3, an open cut had appeared on Ali’s left knee. Then, in Round 8, Ali’s trainer, Angelo Dundee, insisted that Inoki tape up his laces, claiming the tips were cutting the champ’s leg.

Over the course of fifteen long rounds, Ali threw a mere six punches, as Inoki maintained a defensive posture throughout. Prevented by the rules from using his grappling strength and acumen, Inoki spent most of his time on the mat, throwing kick after kick at the boxer’s legs.

The match was ultimately called a draw, though had Inoki not lost points for a karate kick and accidental knee to Ali’s groin in the thirteenth round, he’d have won.

At the time, the only losers were the fans, many of whom had shelled out significant money to witness an overhyped fiasco of the highest order. Sadly, the match is said to have began the decline of Ali’s career. The open cuts on his leg became so badly infected that amputation was considered a possibility. Moreover, the stream of stiff kicks caused the formation of two potentially life-threatening blood clots in his agile legs. Though he continued to fight for five more years, Ali never scored another knockout. His mobility and punching power were never the same.

The Ali vs. Inoki match was shown as the “main event” at wrestling cards around the world, including 150 closed-circuit locations across America. Each territory featured its own undercard, with WWWF offering a championship match between Bruno Sammartino and challenger Stan Hansen. In Chicago, fans saw AWA World Heavyweight Champion Nick Bockwinkel taking on Verne Gagne, while the NWA put on a show at the Houston Coliseum featuring Terry Funk in a title defense against Rocky Johnson.

The WWWF also presented an additional “Boxer vs. Wrestler” match, pitting André against heavyweight challenger Chuck Wepner. A New Jersey club fighter known as the Bayonne Bleeder, Wepner had been plucked from obscurity the year before to take on Muhammad Ali. The match ended up going fifteen rounds, and while Ali was the eventual winner, Wepner gained such notoriety that he inspired Sylvester Stallone’s immortal creation Rocky Balboa.

The match—held before a crowd of 32,000 at New York’s Shea Stadium—began with Wepner spending the first two rounds taunting André. Though he was six-foot-five, 230 pounds, Wepner still appeared tiny next to the Giant. He circled the bemused André, throwing a few jabs, which André largely ignored. A showman to his core, he knew how easy it would be to finish Wepner off and opted to give the fans a few rounds.

But in Round 3, Wepner connected, hitting André square in the face. The punch got André’s attention. He snorted and hit Wepner with a reverse atomic drop and a headbutt, then lifted the big boxer like a child and tossed
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Post-match melee.

him over the top rope. Wepner bounced off the apron and then fell to the infield, where he was counted out.

“Look, boss,” André told writer Terry Todd in his seminal Sports Illustrated piece. “The boxer-wrestler business is almost a joke. After all, a man may hit me a couple of times, but if I cut the ring off and close in, what can he do after I put my hands on him? The boxer has no chance, since he can’t even wrestle in a clinch because of his gloves.”

In the moments following the bell, a brawl began between Wepner’s crew and World Wide Wrestling Federation officials—including André’s cornerman, Gorilla Monsoon. Wepner got back in the ring and went after André, nailing him with a big right that left the Giant stunned. André shook it off, then grabbed hold of Wepner. Fortunately, handlers were able to split them apart before it got seriously ugly.

Despite its lack of technical majesty, the match only served to increase André’s growing legend. In 1977 he was named Pro Wrestling Illustrated’s “Most Popular Wrestler.” He was without doubt the biggest draw in wrestling—literally and figuratively—and as such was in constant demand. Promoters around the world hungered for André to visit their territory and put over the top heel. André battled night after night with a rogue’s gallery that included Ric Flair, Nick Bockwinkel, Abdullah the Butcher, Ken Patera, Blackjack Mulligan, and NWA World Champion Harley Race.

Along the way he fought countless Battle Royals and Handicap matches, not to mention his innumerable singles bouts. André even took on Gorilla Monsoon in a WWWF event at Roberto Clemente Stadium in Puerto Rico. There was a catch, however—the two gigantic babyfaces were pitted in a boxing match, refereed by Jersey Joe Walcott. Though André won with a third-round KO, the match marked a historic moment for Monsoon, making him the only man to ever box André and wrestle Muhammad Ali.

Among André’s most successful programs was his long-running feud with the groundbreaking Ernie Ladd. Known as “the Big Cat,” Ladd was a four-time AFL All-Star defensive tackle who appeared in three AFL championship games, winning titles in 1963 with the San Diego Chargers and in 1967 with the Kansas City Chiefs. During the off-season, the six-foot-nine, 315-pound Ladd began wrestling in the Los Angeles territory and soon became reviled as one of the sport’s great heels. His arrogant interviews and controversial use of a taped thumb as a weapon made him a hated figure throughout the territories, which in turn made him the ideal foil for the hugely popular André. The two wrestled regularly across the country in matches promoted as “Battles of the Giants,” with the babyface André threatening to depose Ladd from whichever championship he was holding at the time.

“The reason André the Dummy wants me so bad is because I beat him in Los Angeles,” growled Ladd in a 1978 interview with NWA Tri-State Wrestling’s Reeser Bowden.

He goes around telling people he’s never been beat, which is a lie. We were in a couple of Battle Royals, for two or three years André the Giant never lost a Battle Royal, but I decided to enter some of the Battle Royals that André the Dummy was in, and I beat that dummy several times in Battle Royals. Now, he feels that he could really hurt me if he could get a shot at the North American title and take my belt, well André the Dummy, you got a shot! The only shot you gonna get, right in your mouth! Your big mouth!

Now, I beat you on several occasions and I will beat you again. And if you stand in my face and call me a liar, I’ll slap your face
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Sending Ernie Ladd into the ropes.

real good in the general public! Goin’ round, tellin’ people that you’ve never been beat before. I want you in the squared circle worse than you wanna get in the squared circle! I will slap your face and whup your fanny real good! For all my fans, anytime, anywhere, Big Boy! Don’t call me out, ’cause I am the true champion! Oh! I just get so sick down inside, it make me wanna throw up just thinkin’ about how bad I would like to slap your face! I would slap your face in the presence of your parents, let alone in the presence of all the fans, and pin you again, dummy!

ERNIE LADD: “André was great box office, massive box office. Massive man. Learned how to make money. Good student of Vince McMahon’s. What made him special, he learned that he could probably control an audience and bring them back again. Many people could draw an audience for the first time and then never get them back to the arena. He could draw them over and over. He was a good guy. He was moody now and then. But most of all he was a good guy.”

Late in 1978 André won rare championship gold as one half of two tag teams. First, he teamed with Ron Miller to defeat Butch Brannigan & Ox Baker and win NWA Australian Tag Team titles. Unfortunately, the promotion closed later that month, vacating the title through 1982.

Then, on Christmas Day, André paired with the American Dream, Dusty Rhodes, in a ten-team NWA Tri-State United States Tag Team Championship tournament at the Mid-South SuperDome Extravaganza in New Orleans. With amateur-and-professional wrestling legend Danny Hodge as referee, André & Dusty defeated Stan Hansen & Ernie Ladd in the final round to win the titles. But when André was unable to make the first championship defense, he was replaced by Don “The Spoiler” Jardine, and the team quickly dropped the titles.

HOWARD FINKEL: “He didn’t need a title. There are wrestlers here who need titles to really ascend to the top. Because of the novelty that André was, he didn’t need a championship belt around his waist.”
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Those who knew him remember André as a man who didn’t see gray when it came to his relationships with other wrestlers— “Boss,” as he was known, either liked you or he didn’t, and heaven help those who were not in good favor. [image: image] Among those who earned the Giant’s loathing was future Hall of Famer Ivan “Polish Power” Putski. Wrestling one night in Providence, Rhode Island, André teamed with Putski and a young Ted DiBiase in a Six Man Tag against the Valiant Brothers, Jimmy, Johnny, and Jerry.

In the locker room, André explained to DiBiase how the match would go. “André was like, this guy doesn’t care about anybody else, he has no real respect for the business, and he’s a loser,” the Million Dollar Man remembered in his 2008 autobiography. “He said, ‘Hey, boss. Tonight, you tag me. You tag nobody else.’ I said, ‘Okay.’ Throughout the entire match, André made sure that I never tagged Putski. Brother, he made that guy stand on the apron all night. I’d go over there, Putski would reach out to tag me, and André would just throw that great big, long arm in front of me and take the tag. André had a way of proving his point.”

HOWARD FINKEL: “If André didn’t like you, make no mistake about it, he would tell you. And if he didn’t like you, he didn’t want to be around you. At the same time, André was all business. And you don’t have to like somebody to do business with them.”

JACK BRISCO: “With people he didn’t know, he enjoyed being a little intimidating. But to his friends, you couldn’t ask for a better friend or a nicer man. He was an amazing man. The people he didn’t like, they knew he didn’t like ’em.

“The Iron Sheik, André didn’t like him for some reason. I don’t know why, but over the years I saw them wrestle several times, in different parts of the country, and André was just unmerciful on the Iron Sheik. He’d just beat the poor guy about half to death.”

BLACKJACK LANZA: “If you were genuine, he liked you. If you were phony, he didn’t have time for you.”

TED DIBIASE: “If André didn’t like you, he’d just flat-out tell you. He’d say, ‘Get out of the dressing room, go dress somewhere else. I don’t care where, just get out of here.’ There was no in-between with him. He’d keep his distance till he figured you out. I’ll tell you this about the man, you couldn’t get much by him. He had great intuition. No matter what you’d see on the exterior, André knew how to call a spade a spade.”

VINCE McMAHON: “We had this guy by the name of Uncle Elmer in the company. Elmer was a big man, but not a giant. Almost seven feet tall, big potbelly, skinny little arms. Never trained a day in his life. Elmer sold fake Rolex watches to the boys and
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With Ivan Putski.

to the public. He had his briefcase he’d carry around, he’d open that briefcase up and sell fake Rolexes.

“Anyway, André didn’t like him. He’d been in the ring a couple times with André, and André roughed him up a little bit. So Elmer went to Bobby Heenan and said, ‘Bobby, I don’t think the Giant likes me.’

“Bobby says, ‘Whatever makes you think that?’

“‘He told me so.’ “

In 1980 Vince Sr. paired off André with a bodybuilding newcomer who instantly became his big, blond bête noire.

Inspired by Superstar Billy Graham and Dusty Rhodes, Hulk Hogan— born Terry Bollea—had learned his craft from famed wrestler/trainer Hiro Matsuda before entering the Championship Wrestling from Florida ring in 1977. He worked around the Southeast under such monikers as Terry Boulder and Sterling Golden, drawing well enough to earn a shot at the prestigious NWA World Heavyweight Championship.

HULK HOGAN: “When I first got into the business, in my mind I thought I could get as big as André. I wasn’t stupid—I knew I could never be seven-foot-four. I just thought that in the wrestling business I could be so big, people would just believe everything. Like, even if you beat André, nobody would really believe it, he was so big.

“So that was my goal, to be the biggest, strongest I could be and hopefully be more impressive than André. And along with that came my verbiage, and that was a direct threat to André.”

In late 1979, Hogan was introduced to Vince McMahon Sr., who gave him his new nom de guerre and teamed him with manager “Classy” Freddie Blassie. The pairing instantly established Hogan as a heel to be reckoned with. A master of crowd antagonism and heel psychology, Blassie’s management style drew intense heat from the fans. He would assist Hogan by slipping a “foreign object” into the Hulkster’s elbow pad—in plain sight of the crowd, of course, though somehow not in view of his opponent or the referee.

With Blassie waving his trademark cane by his side, Hogan marched through the World Wide Wrestling Federation’s babyface roster, defeating such stars as Tito Santana, Dominic DeNucci, Ivan Putski, and then-champion Bob Backlund.

HULK HOGAN: “When I first came to New York, I was the bad guy. Fred Blassie was my manager, and ’cause I was 330 pounds, it was believable that I could give André a run for his money.”

In March 1980 McMahon Sr. matched his rising new star with his greatest attraction. André took an immediate dislike to Hogan. Freddie Blassie, in his 2003 memoir Listen, You Pencil Neck Geeks, tells of a match between the Giant and Hulk Hogan where “André got it in his head that Hogan wasn’t hustling enough.

“Trapping Hogan in a full nelson and clamping on the pressure, André growled in that deep distorted voice of his, ‘Work, Hulk, work.’”

André’s antipathy to Hogan had no small effect on the junior wrestler’s nerves. The very thought of working a match with the Giant filled Hogan with virtually uncontrollable terror, causing him to get physically sick with fear as he approached the arena.

HULK HOGAN: “There was some rough going between me and him. He’d get me in the ring and just tan my hide. I’d be on the way to the building knowing I had to wrestle him and I would pull the car over and vomit, I was so scared. Then after taking several beatings within an inch of my life, which I never thought I would survive, he finally gained respect for me.”

On August 2, 1980, McMahon Sr. sent André and Hogan to wrestle for Bill Watts at one of his annual Mid-South SuperDome Extravaganzas in New Orleans. Watts booked Hogan to lose to one of his biggest names, the great Wahoo McDaniel, but the young Hulkster had been advised by McMahon not to lose his match so as to appear more of a threat to André in their bout later in the card.

According to Hogan, Watts was infuriated by Hulk’s refusal to job to his champion. He proceeded to tell André not only how the younger wrestler wouldn’t job to McDaniel, he was also refusing to go down against the Giant—despite the fact that putting André over was his sole reasoning for opposing Watts.

Nevertheless, André was not about to give this newcomer the benefit of the doubt. When the two finally stepped into the ring together, the Giant made plain his displeasure by “damn near killing” Hogan. “He messed up my shoulder,” Hulk said, “screwed my neck up and suplexed me on my head.”

The Giant’s open hostility toward Hogan persisted even as the two wrestlers ventured halfway around the world to work together in New Japan. Traveling the country together, André continued to torment the younger wrestler, sitting in the back of the bus so he could bounce his empty beer cans off the back of Hulk’s head.

Rather than backing down, Hulk accepted his hazing as a rite of passage. He opted to show fealty to the biggest star in the business by taking the abuse with a grain of salt while also going out of his way to run errands and lend André a hand whenever possible.
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